A. Identity of Petitioner. 

The petitioner is Michelle Ersfeld-Petelle, respondent in the 

Court of Appeals. 

B. Court of Appeals Decision. 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published 

decision reversing the trial court and remanding with directions to 

terminate petitioner's statutory right under RCW 11.04.015 to inherit 

as the "surviving spouse" of respondent's son, who died intestate 

while the parties were still married but after they had entered into a 

separation contract converting their marital estate to separate 

property. Division One's May 6, 2019 opinion deciding as a matter 

of first impression that the parties' separation contract disinherited 

petitioner as a matter of law is published at Estate of Petelle, _ Wn. 

App.2d _ , 440 P.3d 1026 (2019). Citations in this petition are to 

the paragraph numbers in the opinion as attached in Appendix A. 

The Court of Appeals denied petitioner's timely motion for 

reconsideration in a June 24, 2019 order, attached as Appendix B. 

C. Issue Presented for Review. 

Whether a separation contract that converted the marital 

estate to separate property and was a "final settlement of all their 

marital and property rights and obligations" but was neither a 
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contract to legally separate or dissolve the marriage nor purported to 

expressly disclaim the statutory right to inherit if the other spouse 

died intestate nevertheless "impliedly waived" the parties' statutory 

right to intestate succession as a surviving spouse? 

D. Statement of the Case. 

Petitioner Michelle Ersfeld-Petelle and decedent Michael 

Petelle married on May 20, 2011 and separated on January 27, 2017, 

when Michael filed a petition for dissolution in King County Superior 

Court. (Opinion ,i 2) On February 14, 2017, Michelle and Michael 

entered into a "Separation Contract and CR 2A Agreement." 

(Opinion ,i 1) The separation contract expressly provided that the 

"parties are not contracting to legally separate or dissolve their 

marriage, but agree if a decree of legal separation or decree of 

dissolution is obtained, this contract shall be incorporated in said 

decree and given full force and effect thereby." (CP 43) 

The separation contract terminated the community estate as 

of January 27, 2017 and divided the spouses' assets and liabilities. 

(CP 44) Both spouses released claims against "[a]ll disclosed 

property not otherwise awarded or assigned in this agreement" and 

agreed that "[a]ll property which shall hereafter come to either party 

shall be his or her separate property and neither party shall hereafter 
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have any claim thereto." (CP 46) Although the separation contract 

was a "final settlement of all their marital and property rights and 

obligations" (CP 46), the parties did not contract to terminate their 

marriage, and the separation contract did not terminate the marriage 

or purport to waive any statutory rights either party might have as a 

surviving spouse. The separation contract became "final and binding 

upon the execution of both parties, whether or not a legal separation 

or decree of dissolution is obtained" (CP 43-44); its property 

distribution and obligations were to "remain valid and enforceable 

against the estate of either party" upon death. (CP 48) 

Despite the fact that the separation contract required 

Michael's attorney to draft and furnish to Michelle's counsel by April 

15, 2017 orders incorporating the terms of the separation contract, 

Michael's counsel never did so after Michael sent an email to his 

attorney on April 2 asking her to "postpone the closing date" of the 

dissolution "an additional six months" while he and Michelle decided 

whether or not to reconcile. After executing the separation contract, 

neither spouse executed wills that could have prevented the property 

awarded to them from passing to the other upon death. Nor was the 

contract recorded. (CP 14, 17; see also CP 1-2, 4-8) 
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Michael died, with "no will and no issue," on May 1, 2017. At 

the time of his death, the parties were still married; no decree of 

dissolution had been entered. (Opinion ,i 2) Because Michael died 

intestate with no children, RCW 11.04.015 governs distribution of his 

estate. That statute provides that his "surviving spouse" was entitled 

to receive three-quarters of his net separate property estate. His 

mother, respondent Gloria Petelle, was entitled to the remainder of 

his estate. 

Respondent filed a TEDRA petition, RCW ch. 11.96A, to 

terminate petitioner's statutory right to take by intestate succession, 

arguing she had "waived all her statutory and common law rights as 

a surviving spouse ... when she executed the Separation and CR2A 

Agreement." (CP 18-27) The trial court denied respondent's 

petition, finding that petitioner did not waive her statutory right to 

intestate inheritance under the plain language of the separation 

contract. (RP 17-19; CP 111-12) The Court of Appeals reversed in a 

published opinion. Division One rejected respondent's argument 

that petitioner was not entitled to inherit as a "surviving spouse" 

because her marriage to decedent was "terminated" under RCW 

11.02.005(17). (Opinion ,i,i 5-8) But as a matter of first impression, 

the Court of Appeals held as a matter of law that the separation 
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contract "impliedly waived" petitioner's statutory rights to inherit as 

a "surviving spouse" under RCW 11.04.015(1) because the separation 

contract recited that it was a "complete and final settlement of all .. 

. marital and property rights." (Opinion ,i,i 13-14) 

E. Why This Court Should Grant Review. 

For purposes of review, petitioner concedes that the 

separation contract converted property that would otherwise have 

been community property into the separate property of the spouse to 

whom it was awarded in the separation contract. The issue presented 

for review by this Court is whether by executing the separation 

contract, the parties as a matter of law "impliedly waived" their 

statutory rights to intestate succession if the other spouse died prior 

to dissolution of the parties' marriage. 

1. The Court of Appeals' published opinion 
conflicts with this Court's decisions that a 
decree of dissolution cannot be entered after a 
spouse's death and that intestate interests are 
created only upon the death of the intestate, 
thus raising issues of substantial public 
importance. (RAP 13-4(b)(1), (4)) 

"Waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right." 

Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wn.2d 94, 102, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980). "It is 

necessary that the person against whom waiver is claimed have 

intended to relinquish the right, advantage, or benefit and his action 
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must be inconsistent with any other intent than to waive it." 

Wagner, 95 Wn.2d at 102. "[T]o constitute a waiver, other than by 

express agreement, there must be unequivocal acts or conduct 

evincing an intent to waive." Wagner, 95 Wn.2d at 102. "Intent 

cannot be inferred from doubtful or ambiguous factors." Wagner, 

95 Wn.2d at 102; Vehicle/Vessel, L.L.C. v. Whitman County, 122 Wn. 

App. 770, 778, 95 P.3d 394 (2004) ("Implied waiver will not be 

inferred; the party claiming waiver must present unequivocal acts or 

conduct that show an intent to waive."). The Court of Appeals' 

holding, as a matter of first impression and as a matter of law, that 

petitioner "impliedly waived" her statutory intestate rights as 

surviving spouse under RCW 11.04.015 is not only inconsistent with 

its holding that she was a "surviving spouse" under RCW 

11.02.005(17), but conflicts with this Court's decisions that a 

dissolution action normally abates upon the death of one of the 

spouses, and that intestate interests are created only upon the death 

of the intestate. 

In Pratt v. Pratt, 99 Wn.2d 905, 665 P.2d 400 (1983), this 

Court vacated a dissolution decree entered nunc pro tune after the 

husband's death, the effect of which "was to cut off [the wife's] 

inheritance rights," holding that "the trial court had improperly 
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attempted to make the record reflect what might have happened had 

Mr. Pratt lived." 99 Wn.2d at 911 (emphasis in original). In reversing 

Division Two, this Court noted that dissolution actions normally 

abate upon a spouse's death because until entry of final decree, 

"anyone can change his mind," "[t]he parties can reconcile, the terms 

of the property distribution can be altered or the trial court can 

decide not to grant the decree." Pratt, 99 Wn.2d at 910. 

In Estate of Baird, 131 Wn.2d 514, 933 P.2d 1031 (1997), this 

Court held that a disclaimer of the right to inherit intestate made 

before the decedent's death was invalid, because "[a]n intestate 

interest is created only upon the death of the creator of the interest, 

i.e., the death of the intestate." 131 Wn.2d at 520. Because the 

purported disclaimer by the decedent's child at issue there had been 

executed before she died, "he did not yet have an 'interest' in his 

mother's estate to disclaim." Baird, 131 Wn.2d at 520. 

The Court of Appeals' published opinion here conflicts with 

both Pratt and Baird. In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals 

misplaced its relied on Brown's Estate, 28 Wn.2d 436,183 P.2d 768 

(1947) and Estate of Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. 944,957 P.2d 818 (1998), 

rev. denied 137 Wn.2d 1004 (1999), in concluding that petitioner 

could and did as a matter oflaw "impliedly waive" her statutory right 
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to intestate succession by entering into the separation contract. 

Neither Brown nor Lindsay, which both addressed a wife's right to a 

homestead allowance from the husband's estate when the husband 

had executed a will excluding the wife as a beneficiary, support an 

implied waiver of the statutory right to intestate succession. 

In Brown, the spouses entered into a property settlement 

intended to "be final and conclusive between the parties hereto, 

regardless of whether or not either party hereto may die before the 

Interlocutory Decree of Divorce shall become final." 28 Wn.2d at 

437-38. The husband died less than six months later, after the trial 

court had entered an interlocutory decree of divorce but before a final 

decree was entered, and after executing a will that excluded the wife 

as a beneficiary. Brown, 28 Wn.2d at 438-39. 

This Court held in Brown that the wife waived her right to a 

homestead allowance from the husband's estate by entering into the 

settlement agreement, focusing on two primary considerations. 

First, the parties expressly and clearly "had in contemplation the 

possibility of death and obviously that they meant to waive any rights 

which might accrue upon death, one of which rights would be the 

homestead right." Brown, 28 Wn.2d at 440. Second, "the actions of 

the parties immediately after the agreement was executed" gave 
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"additional force" to their intent. Brown, 28 Wn.2d at 440. "Both 

parties sold their separate interest in the real estate to a third party" 

after signing the settlement agreement, and "executed and delivered 

real estate contract and deed, which were placed of record." Brown, 

28 Wn.2d at 440-41. The "language of the agreement and the actions 

of the parties to that agreement reflect[ ed] the intent of the parties 

to waive each and every right ... one could exercise as to the property 

of the other if the division of the property was to be affected by the 

death of either party before the interlocutory decree of divorce 

became final." Brown, 28 Wn.2d at 441 (emphasis added). 

Similarly, in Lindsay, the parties "signed a separation 

agreement dividing their real and personal property" and 

"relinquished any claim to the other's property acquired after" the 

date of execution. 91 Wn. App. at 947. Both parties then revoked 

prior reciprocal wills and executed new wills excluding the other as a 

beneficiary. Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 947. When the husband died 

four years later, the wife applied for an award in lieu of homestead. 

The trial court denied the discretionary homestead allowance, 

finding "that the parties had renounced their marriage and thereby 

effectively waived any right to a surviving spouse's award in lieu of 

homestead." Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 947-48. 
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In affirming the trial court, Division Three recognized that the 

"agreement clearly reflect[ ed] an intent to give up those rights which 

would normally follow legal spouses" based on "all of the 

circumstances surrounding the transaction, including the subject 

matter together with the subsequent acts of the parties to the 

instrument." Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 951 (emphasis added) (quoted 

source omitted). The parties "never rescinded, revoked, or altered" 

the separation agreement. Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 952. Nor did 

they live together in the four years between when they entered into 

the agreement and when the husband died. Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 

952. Crucially, during that time, both parties also rescinded their 

reciprocal wills and "executed wills leaving nothing to the other." 

Lindsay, 91 Wn. App. at 952. 

In finding that the surviving spouses had waived their right to 

a homestead allowance, both Brown and Lindsay relied not only on 

the language in the parties' separation contracts, but their 

subsequent conduct demonstrating their intent to waive that 

statutory right. Here, in contrast, neither the "language of the 

agreement" nor "the actions of the parties" reflect any similar intent 

to waive any and all "rights which might accrue upon death." Brown, 

28 Wn.2d at 440-41. See also Estate of Lundy v. Lundy, 187 Wn. 
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App. 948, 959-60, 352 P .3d 209 ( dissolution decree awarding an 

ERISA retirement account to former husband as his separate 

property was not a waiver by former wife to her rights to that account 

as the designated beneficiary: "Disclaiming an ownership interest is 

not the same as disclaiming future rights as a beneficiary."), rev. 

denied, 184 Wn.2d 1022 (2015). 

The Court of Appeals reasoned that Brown and Lindsey 

supported its decision and that petitioner had impliedly waived her 

statutory right to intestate succession because she had settled her 

"marital rights." (Opinion ,r,r 13-14) But intestate succession under 

RCW 11.04.015 is not the sort of "marital right" addressed in Brown 

and Lindsey. Intestate succession is not a "marital right" at all, but 

is instead merely a statutory interest, arising at death, intended by 

the Legislature to serve as an estate distribution plan where a 

decedent fails to devise his or her estate by will. While a "surviving 

spouse" is an enumerated class of beneficiary, defined by RCW 

11.02.005(17), the surviving spouse's statutory interest is not a 

marital right because it can be unilaterally destroyed by the simple 

act of execution of a will by the other spouse. 

Petitioner's statutory right to inherit in this case arose by 

virtue of the decedent's failure to assert his own right to make a will 
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directing the distribution of his estate, and because (as the Court of 

Appeals correctly held: Opinion ,i 18), petitioner was a "surviving 

spouse" as defined in RCW 11.02.005 at the time of his death. 

Petitioner's statutory right to inherit intestate could not have accrued 

by virtue of her marriage because it could have been unilaterally 

revoked by the decedent by making a will. See Pond v. Faust, 90 

Wash. 117, 119-20, 155 P. 776 (1916) ("Until a man dies he has no 

heirs. It can never be known before then, even if he die intestate, 

who will succeed him and be legally found to be his heirs"); Estate of 

Wright, 147Wn. App. 674,680, ,J 21,196 P.3d 1075 (2008) ("the laws 

of intestacy are by definition inapplicable when the decedent leaves 

a will"), rev. denied, 166 Wn.2d 1005 (2009). 

The separation contract here did not waive the parties' 

statutory rights to inherit intestate. The Court of Appeals' published 

decision concluding that petitioner "impliedly waived" the statutory 

rights of a surviving spouse also raises an issue of substantial public 

importance, because it is inconsistent with public policy encouraging 

marriage and discouraging dissolution, and will call into doubt the 

consequence of many standard separation contracts. This Court 

should accept review. 
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2. The Court of Appeals' published decision 
conflicts with decisions limited the 
consequence of contractual integration 
clauses. (RAP 13.4(b)(2)) 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion that "there was 

no reliance on extrinsic evidence" in this case (Opinion ,i 10), 

petitioner relied upon the facts that not only did the separation 

contract itself not expressly waive intestate succession rights, but 

that neither spouse's conduct demonstrated any intent to disinherit 

the other or to waive either spouse's statutory right to inherit 

separate property under RCW 11.04.015. The spouses were 

separated for less than four months when the husband died, and 

there was evidence that they were seeking to reconcile. (CP 1-2, 4-8, 

14, 17) Neither spouse executed a will intentionally excluding the 

other from inheriting, or otherwise took any affirmative action to 

expressly ensure that the survivor would not receive any property 

upon the death of the other. 

As argued in the previous section, the Court of Appeals' 

conclusion that petitioner nevertheless impliedly waived her 

statutory right to intestate succession as a matter of law goes well 

beyond the holdings and facts of both Brown and Lindsay; the Court 

of Appeals impermissibly inferred intent "from doubtful or 

ambiguous factors." Wagner, 95 Wn.2d at 102; see also Lundy, 187 
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Wn. App. at 960, ,i 26 (in the absence of express agreement in 

dissolution decree, "there was no such clear conduct demonstrating 

Kelly's intent to waive her rights as beneficiary of Craig's retirement 

account. The only evidence the Estate cites regarding intent is Kelly 

and Craig's lack of closeness after their divorce. But, we cannot infer 

intent from 'doubtful or ambiguous factors."'). 

In concluding that the separation contract nevertheless 

waived respondent's statutory intestate succession rights, the Court 

of Appeals in its published opinion relies on the language in the 

separation contract stating that its terms could only be modified in 

writing. (Opinion ,i 24) Its opinion therefore also conflicts with 

decisions that "a contract clause prohibiting oral modifications is 

essentially unenforceable because the clause itself is subject to oral 

modification." Pacific Northwest Group Av. Pizza Blends, Inc., 90 

Wn. App. 273, 277-78, 951 P.2d 826 (1998); see also RCW 

26.09.070(8) ("If at any time the parties to the separation contract 

by mutual agreement elect to terminate the separation contract they 

may do so without formality unless the contract was recorded"). 

Leaving aside that nothing in the language of the separation 

contract itself waived either spouse's statutory right to intestate 

succession if the parties remained married when one spouse died, the 
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Court of Appeals' reliance on this "integration" clause was not a basis 

for ruling as a matter of law that the separation contract disinherited 

respondent. This Court should also accept review to hold that at a 

minimum, remand to the trial court was required to determine 

whether the spouses in fact intended the separation contract to be a 

waiver of statutory intestate succession rights. 

F. Conclusion. 

This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, 

and reinstate the triflurt's decision.