FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/28/2019 3:53 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97463-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLORIA PETELLE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHELLE ERSFELD-PETELLE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jason W. Burnett, WSBA No. 30516 Anton B. Cauthorn, WSBA No. 45191 REED LONGYEAR MALNATI & AHRENS, PLLC 801 Second Avenue, Suite 1415 Seattle, Washington 98104-1517 Telephone: (206) 624-6721 Jason W. Anderson, WSBA No. 30512 Sidney C. Tribe, WSBA No. 33160 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Respondent Gloria Petelle

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals properly analogized to *In re Brown's Estate* and *Matter of Estate of Lindsay*, both of which involved waiver of marital inheritance rights, and its decision does not conflict with *Matter of Estate of Baird*.

In concluding that the separation agreement waived the right to intestate succession, the Court of Appeals relied primarily on two prior decisions, one by this Court and one by the Court of Appeals: *In re Brown's Estate*, 28 Wn.2d 436, 183 P.2d 768 (1947), and *Matter of Estate of Lindsay*, 91 Wn. App. 944, 957 P.2d 818 (1998). In each case, the appellate court determined that the surviving spouse had impliedly waived another statutory inheritance right—a surviving spouse's right to a homestead⁵—by entering into a written separation agreement that relinquished any rights to the deceased spouse's property following death.

In *Brown*, the parties entered into a separation agreement while their divorce was pending. Similar to here, the agreement provided that it was a "full and complete settlement of all of the property rights of the parties" and was "final and conclusive" even if one of them died before their divorce became final. 28 Wn.2d at 437-38. With the divorce still pending, the husband died leaving a will that did not mention his wife. *Id.* at 439. The question was whether the wife waived her right to a homestead. The superior court ruled that she did not, but this Court reversed. This Court concluded it was "clear...that the parties to the property agreement had in

⁵ A probate homestead "is created by a probate court from a decedent's estate for the benefit of the decedent's surviving spouse and minor children." *Homestead*, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019).

contemplation the possibility of death and obvious[] that they meant to waive any rights which might accrue upon death, one of which rights would be the homestead right." *Id.* at 440.

In *Lindsay*, the parties signed a written separation agreement but never divorced. 91 Wn. App. at 951. Again similar to here, the agreement divided their property, provided that neither would have any claim or interest in any after-acquired property, and provided that any changes must be in writing. *Id.* at 947, 951. Affirming the judgment denying the wife a homestead following the husband's death, the Court of Appeals concluded that "[t]he agreement clearly reflects an intent to give up those rights which would normally follow legal spouses." *Id.* at 951.

In concluding that Michelle's waiver of marital rights included the statutory right to intestate succession, the Court of Appeals looked to *Brown* and *Lindsay* as two decisions holding that "a spouse's right to a homestead, another marital inheritance right, can be impliedly waived in a settlement agreement of marital and property rights[.]" *Slip Op.* ¶ 15. The Court of Appeals noted the similar provisions in the separation agreements in those cases and held that the same analysis applied here. *Id.* ¶¶ 17, 21. The court concluded that although *Brown* and *Lindsay* involved the right to a homestead rather than intestate succession, "[b]oth cases analyzed whether a separation contract that is a final settlement of a married couple's property and rights, effective even upon death, evidences an intent to waive the statutory marital rights of a surviving spouse." *Id.* ¶ 22. The court

continued, "Michelle's right to intestate succession, like the homestead right, is a statutory marital right due to a surviving spouse." *Id*.

Michelle attempts to distinguish *Brown* and *Lindsay* on two grounds, the first of which involves an asserted conflict with a decision of this Court: citing *Matter of Estate of Baird*, 131 Wn.2d 514, 933 P.2d 1031 (1997), she asserts that unlike the homestead right, the right to intestate succession cannot be waived before the decedent's death. The second asserted ground to distinguish *Brown* and *Lindsay* is that the courts in those cases considered the parties' subsequent conduct in determining the effect of the agreements. Both arguments are meritless.

1. Intestate-succession rights may be waived, just like the homestead right at issue in *Brown* and *Lindsay*.

In the Court of Appeals, Michelle expressly and unconditionally conceded that the right of intestate succession may be waived. *Br. of Resp't* at 15 ("Michelle noes not disagree that a party *can* waive their right to inherit under RCW 11.04.015."). The Court of Appeals even noted in its decision, "While Michelle concedes that a party can waive his or her right to intestate succession, she argues that such a waiver did not occur here." *Slip Op.* ¶ 14. Nevertheless, Michelle now contends that because an intestate interest is created only upon death, no separation agreement could possibly waive the right to intestate succession.

Michelle's contention is meritless; the right to intestate succession is not materially different from the homestead right at issue in *Brown* and *Lindsay*, which under those precedents can be waived. Michelle asserts that

intestate succession is different because potential intestate succession to a spouse "can be unilaterally destroyed by the simple act of execution of a will by the other spouse." *Petition* at 11. But the fact that the right can be eliminated by a will does not mean that it cannot also be eliminated by a spouse's waiver of marital rights in property. A divorce eliminates any possibility of intestate succession to a surviving spouse; there is no reason why parties may not accomplish the same result through a separation agreement.

2. Baird, a case about attempted anticipatory disclaimer of an expectancy interest rather than waiver of marital rights, is inapposite.

Michelle argues that under this Court's decision in *Matter of Estate* of *Baird*, 131 Wn.2d 514, a decision she never cited below, intestate-succession rights may not be waived before the decedent's death. She asserts a conflict warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). There is none; she misstates the holding in *Baird*.

Contrary to Michelle's characterization of *Baird*, that case did not involve waiver of inheritance rights. *See Petition* at 7. Rather, this Court concluded in *Baird* that the statute allowing a beneficiary to disclaim an interest in an existing estate, RCW 11.86.021, did not permit a purported disclaimer signed before the estate existed. Under chapter 11.86 RCW, a person who is entitled to take an *existing* interest in property, including by intestate succession, may "disclaim" that existing interest by delivering a written disclaimer within a certain period of time "after the creation of the interest." RCW 11.86.021(1), .031(1)-(2). Under the statutorily adopted

doctrine of relation back, a validly disclaimed interest passes "as if the beneficiary had died immediately prior to the date of the transfer of the interest." RCW 11.86.041(1).

This Court's decision in *Baird* was a straightforward application of the requirements of the disclaimer statute. After being convicted of first-degree assault of his wife, James Baird had purported to disclaim any interest in his mother's estate under chapter 11.86 RCW, while his mother was alive. *Baird*, 131 Wn.2d at 516. After Baird's mother's subsequent death, Baird's share of her estate represented the majority of his bankruptcy estate's potential assets to satisfy a civil judgment obtained by the wife he had brutally assaulted. *Id.* Rejecting the notion that Baird's anticipatory disclaimer could be enforced against his fault-free assault victim, this Court unanimously held that "RCW 11.86 does not authorize anticipatory disclaimers of expectancy interests." *Id.* at 521. This Court reasoned that because an interest in the estate of one who dies intestate does not exist until death, Baird's purported disclaimer, delivered before his mother's death, did not meet the statutory requirement that a disclaimer be delivered "after the creation of the interest." *Id.* at 519-21.

The Court of Appeals' decision here does not conflict with *Baird* because this case does not involve an attempted disclaimer under chapter 11.86 RCW. The Court of Appeals did not conclude that Michelle executed a disclaimer under chapter 11.86 RCW or otherwise attempted to disclaim an interest in an estate that would be created upon Michael's death. Instead, the court concluded that, in the separation agreement, Michael and Michelle

contractually agreed to waive all rights in each other's property that they previously had by virtue of being married to each other, including the right to inherit any of that property in the future. *Baird* is inapposite.

3. The courts' consideration of the parties' subsequent conduct in *Brown* and *Lindsay* does not distinguish those cases.

Evidence extrinsic to a contract, including the parties' conduct after executing the contract, is relevant and admissible to interpret the contract and discern the parties' intent. *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 668, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). In both *Brown* and *Lindsay*, the appellate courts considered the parties' subsequent conduct. In *Brown*, the parties after entering into their separation agreement sold real property they had owned. 28 Wn.2d at 438, 440-41. In *Lindsay*, the parties revoked their previous reciprocal wills and executed new ones excluding the other spouse. 91 Wn. App. at 947, 952. In each case, the appellate courts considered the subsequent conduct as supporting the conclusion that the parties intended to waive all marital rights, including inheritance rights such as the homestead right. *Brown*, 28 Wn.2d at 440; *Lindsay*, 91 Wn. App. at 951-52.

Michelle contradicts her primary argument for review when she points to the absence of similar, subsequent conduct here as a distinguishing fact. Subsequent conduct can be relevant if waiver is possible. More to the point, the subsequent conduct in *Brown* and *Lindsay* was not critical to the results in those cases; it was merely corroborative. In *Brown*, this Court concluded based on the contractual language alone that waiver of all marital

rights was a "clear" and "inescapable" conclusion. 28 Wn.2d at 440. This Court reasoned that the subsequent conduct gave "additional force" to that conclusion. *Id.* The analysis in *Lindsay* is similar: only after observing that "[t]he agreement clearly reflects an intent to give up those rights which would normally follow legal spouses" did the court mention the parties' subsequent conduct as supporting the result.⁶ 91 Wn. App. at 951-52.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with *Brown* and *Lindsay*, and the Court of Appeals properly rejected Michelle's attempt to distinguish those cases based on the courts' consideration of the parties' subsequent conduct. Review is unwarranted.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Pratt v. Pratt*; abatement of a dissolution proceeding upon death does not affect a settlement agreement's enforceability.

Michelle asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision she never previously cited, *Pratt v. Pratt*, 99 Wn.2d 905, 665 P.2d 400 (1983). She points to this Court's recitation in *Pratt* of the principle that "a dissolution proceeding ordinarily abates upon the death of one of the spouses." *Id.* at 908; *see Petition* at 6-7. There is no conflict.

The existence of a pending dissolution proceeding is immaterial to the result here. The abatement of a dissolution proceeding upon one spouse's death does not affect the validity of a separation agreement, especially where the separation agreement expressly contemplates post-

=

⁶ In addition, as the Court of Appeals pointed out in its opinion in this case, the lack of execution of new wills here is inconsequential; Michael never had a will and there is no evidence that Michelle had one, either. *Slip Op.* ¶ 23.

death enforcement. For instance, in *Brown*, the husband died while a dissolution proceeding was pending, yet this Court held that the parties' agreement contemplated death and "waive[d] any rights which might accrue upon death[.]" 28 Wn.2d at 440. And in *Lindsay*, the separation agreement was given effect even though the parties never filed for divorce. 91 Wn. App. at 947, 951-52. Here, too, the separation agreement expressly contemplated the death of one of the spouses and was not contingent on entry of a dissolution decree. CP 43-44, 48. *Pratt* is inapposite.

C. Michelle does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. The Court of Appeals' decision merely gives effect to a separation agreement.

Contrary to Michelle's argument, she does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals' decision is neither "inconsistent with public policy encouraging marriage and discouraging dissolution" nor will it "call into doubt the consequence of many standard separation contracts." *Petition* at 12. Parties are free to enter into separation agreements dividing their assets and liabilities and relinquishing their rights as married persons. The Court of Appeals' decision merely gives effect to a separation agreement, and doing so does nothing to encourage divorces. And far from calling into doubt the effect of separation agreements, the decision ensures that they will be enforced as written. Review is not warranted.

D. The Court of Appeals' decision not to remand for fact finding on possible modification of the settlement agreement does not conflict with decisions on integration clauses. There simply was no evidence of any actual modification.

In the Court of Appeals, Michelle argued in the alternative that, even if she waived her right to intestate succession in the separation agreement, remand was necessary to determine whether she and Michael subsequently renounced or modified their agreement and decided to reconcile. She pointed mainly to evidence that Michael had emailed his attorney asking whether it was possible to delay the dissolution, cancel a no-contact order, and not list a house in Leavenworth for sale. *Br. of Resp't* at 27; CP 17. Michael asked in the email, "Are there any technicalities involved that would keep us from doing this and needing to do it another way?" CP 17. The Court of Appeals declined to remand for fact finding mainly because the separation agreement provided that it could be modified only by a writing signed by both parties, and "Michael's email was not a modification or termination that was signed by both parties." *Slip Op.* ¶ 24.

Michelle is wrong that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions such as *Pacific Northwest Group A v. Pizza Blends, Inc.*, 90 Wn. App. 273, 277-78, 951 P.2d 826 (1998), holding that contract clauses prohibiting oral modifications are "essentially unenforceable." *Id.* at 277-78. The problem with Michelle's argument for remand was not the lack of a writing; an email generally is considered a "writing." *See Mechling v. City of Monroe*, 152 Wn. App. 830, 853, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). The problem was that the email did not embody or convey a modification; it was merely

an inquiry about whether modification was possible and, if so, how to effect such modification. There is no conflict.

As other supposed evidence of intention to reconcile, Michelle points to the fact that "[n]either spouse executed a will intentionally excluding the other from inheriting, or otherwise took any affirmative action to expressly ensure that the survivor would not receive any property upon the death of the other." *Petition* at 13. But neither was there any reason for either Michael or Michelle to take such actions. Unlike in *Lindsay*, where the parties had executed reciprocal wills while married, Michael never had a will, and there is no indication that Michelle did, either. *See Slip Op.* ¶ 23. The separation agreement itself was sufficient for Michael and Michelle to relinquish their marital rights.

Finally, a declaration from Michael's friend and another from an acquaintance recalling how Michael "still loved" Michelle and "hoped for reconciliation" simply failed to create any fact issue about modification of the separation agreement. CP 1-2, 5. The notion that the Court of Appeals based its decision on "doubtful or ambiguous factors" akin to mere "lack of closeness" is wrong; the court based its decision on the separation agreement's clear expression of intent to relinquish all marital rights. *See Petition* at 13-14 (quoting *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 102, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980); *Estate of Lundy v. Lundy*, 187 Wn. App. 948, 960, 352 P.3d 209 (2015)). The Court of Appeals properly declined to remand for fact finding, and review is not warranted.

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.